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NOTICE TO PROSPECTIVE PROPOSERS 
 
This bulletin is issued to give updates and clarify the issues raised by prospective proposers 
through the IBAC Secretariat via electronic mail1. This shall form an integral part of the RFP No. 
2017-01-MAS. 
 
It is conclusively presumed that in the preparation of its Proposal, the Proposer has taken into 

account the information and procedures set forth in the RFP No. 2017-01-MAS and each 

Supplemental Bulletin. 

 Questions Answers 

6.1 We noted that equities investment is 
subjected to the country rating. Can we 
check if index futures would be subjected 
to the same country rating requirement? 
 

No. 

6.2 Is indirect exposure allowed, via a collective 
or ETF, to securities listed etc. in the 
Philippines? 
 

Indirect exposure is allowed through 
futures and options. 

6.3 Liquidity requirement, the RFP states a 
requirement, although not anticipated, 
what is an expected exit time frame (1m, 
6m, 12m)?  
How does GSIS consider liquidity? 
 

Refer to Supplemental Bulletin 2.1. 

6.4 Leverage. Is there any further guidance on 
levels of leverage that might be 
expected/acceptable/unacceptable to 
GSIS? 

The use of leverage is permitted. The 
limits should form part of the Proposed 
Investment Strategy under Section G of 
Attachment 4.  

                                                           
1 Questions in this Bulletin were quoted verbatim and answered as understood. 



 Questions Answers 

6.5 What derivative instruments are 
permitted/excluded/anticipated by GSIS 
(futures, forwards, swaps, OTC instruments 
etc.) 

Derivative instruments traded in the 
secondary market are permissible 
subject to the other provisions of the 
RFP. The use of these instruments 
should be part of the Proposed 
Investment Strategy under Section G of 
Attachment 4. 
 

6.6 Volatility, please clarify expectations 
between “should not exceed 12%” and “the 
12% volatility cap”. We see the latter as 
part of the SAA build and the former as an 
ex-ante expectation (which might be 
exceeded – and tolerated - ex-post) 
 

Both the statements “should not 
exceed 12%” and “the 12% volatility 
cap” refer to ex-post volatility. 

6.7 Please confirm that active currency 
positions can be used to add 
diversification/alpha to the asset allocation 
decisions 
 

Yes. 

6.8 Following on, any currency constraints? None. If any, it should be part of the 
Proposed Investment Strategy under 
Section G of Attachment 4. 
 

6.9 Regarding "prohibited activities", is there 
an index/list/further detail on companies 
that have been explicitly excluded/ 
screened out of the global universe? 
 

None.  

6.10 Regarding "prohibited activities", does this 
apply only to equities? Does GSIS have 
preferred families of bond indexes that 
filter out such activities? 
 

Prohibited activities as described in 
Attachment 1, Section H, 17.3 apply to 
all investment instruments in the 
mandate. 

6.11 Regarding "prohibited activities" and 
pooled instruments/collectives etc. (such 
as ETFs, CDX, funds etc.), is look through 
required? 
 

Yes, concerning prohibited activities as 
described in Attachment 1, Section H, 
17.3 . 

6.12 Is (IG) credit a permissible asset class under 
international fixed income? 
 

Yes. 



 Questions Answers 

6.13 Does the prohibition to non IG markets 
extend to equities, credit and sovereign? 

Yes. 
The Investment Grade (IG) requirement 
under Attachment 1 Section G.15 
applies to all asset classes, on a look-
through basis, EXCEPT for index futures 
and options. The rating should be based 
on at least one (1) of the following 
rating agencies: S&P, Fitch or Moody’s.  
For fixed income, IG refers to country 
rating and rating of the particular 
security. For unrated bonds, 
issuer/guarantor ratings is not allowed. 
Also, in the case of a passive breach, the 
management of this particular breach 
should be included in the Attachment 4 
Section G of the proposal. For equities, 
IG refers to rating of the country where 
the stock is listed.  

6.14 Does GSIS have a specific methodology to 
calculate/determine leverage?  
 

None. 

6.15 Is GSIS fine with net exposure above 100% 
(but below 200%)?  

Yes. The limits for the use of leverage 
should form part of the Proposed 
Investment Strategy under Section G of 
Attachment 4. 
 

6.16 We typically implement our Alternatives 
investments through a commingled fund. 
Can we check if this is fine? 
If so, the GSIS guidelines would not be 
applicable within the commingled fund. We 
will still comply to the limit on overall 
Alternatives weight. Is this fine? 
 

Commingled funds are allowed subject 
to the restrictions and other provisions 
of the RFP. 

6.17 Is there leeway to increase the limit to 
Alternatives to 15-20%? We believe this 
would be beneficial to achieving your 
return and risk objectives. 
 

No. 



 Questions Answers 

6.18 Restrictions 17.2 
Does this only apply to fixed income 
instruments? 
Does the credit rating requirement apply at 
the issue level or the issuer level? 
 

No. Investment Grade (IG) applies to 
both fixed income and equities. 
For fixed income, credit rating applies 
only to country level and issue level. 

6.19 Restrictions 17.3 
Country Laws & Regulations, international 
conventions and agreements, international 
phase outs or bans – these appear to be 
very broad, can we clarify if GSIS has 
specific restricted lists, such as OFAC 
Sanctions list, etc? 
Asbestos: We have no data available 
regarding Asbestos, does GSIS have a 
specific list of restricted issuers or 
securities for this restriction? 
Can GSIS provide the full list of names for 
exclusions, and/or the MSCI/GICS 
classifications or methodology to be 
screened out? 
 

None. 

6.20 Portfolio Diversification 
The guidelines do not have specific limits 
on geographical, sector, asset class etc. Will 
there be such limits as the mandate search 
progresses?  
 

None.  
Portfolio diversification should form 
part of the Proposed Investment 
Strategy under Section G of Attachment 
4. 

6.21 Permissible Asset Classes 
The guidelines did not mention about 
derivatives. Can we check if derivatives are 
allowed, and if yes, are there any types of 
derivatives that are not allowed? Are there 
any limits on derivatives exposures? 
 

Yes. 
The use of derivatives is permissible. 
The limits of its use should be discussed 
as part of the Proposed Investment 
Strategy under Section G of Attachment 
4.  

6.22 Is investing in a mutual fund or ETF allowed 
for this mandate? If so, is there a limit? 

Yes, mutual fund or ETF is allowed, but 
there is no prescribed limit. 



 Questions Answers 

6.23 Is % exposure calculated on a look through 
basis? For example, if the proposal includes 
an investment in a bond ETF for which non-
IG bonds are a component, but the 
aggregate credit rating is still IG, will this be 
a valid investment instrument? 
 

The restrictions listed in Section H of 
Attachment 4 apply to underlying 
assets. 

6.24 Are we allowed to propose 2 solutions for 
GSIS to pick from? 
 

No. 

6.25 May I kindly clarify if you will be emailing 
the interested parties for this RFP any 
questions/inquiries and subsequent 
answers relating to the RFP that were 
raised? Or are the interested parties 
supposed to be checking the GSIS website 
directly for these updates? 
 

The GSIS requires all interested 
proposers to read the RFP and regularly 
visit the GSIS website for any 
clarifications and updates through the 
issuance of the Supplemental Bulletin. 
 

6.26 RFP says: 
"13. The permissible asset classes are as 
follows: international fixed income, 
international equities, cash and cash 
equivalents, and alternative investments 
(i.e., real estate, hedge funds, and 
commodities). Investments shall only be in 
financial instruments that trade in the 
secondary markets.  
14. Alternative investments should not 
exceed 10% of the portfolio. “ 
 
Question: Are real estate equities 
considered international equities? OR Are 
real estate hard properties instead, and 
therefore considered alternative? 
We like to clarify that the reference to Real 
Estate under alternatives, only refers to 
hard properties which is therefore limited 
to the 10%. 
 

Investment in traded shares of publicly 
listed companies involved in real estate 
are considered international equities. 
Private equity, REITs, investment in real 
estate funds and investment in hard 
properties are considered alternative 
investments.  



 Questions Answers 

6.27 Would there be a list of companies or GICS 
codes industry or sub-industry that are for 
unbonded asbestos fibers? 
 

None. 

6.28 If ABC Asset Management UK is the 
proposer, can it engage its Asia Pacific Head 
Office in Hong Kong to manage the 
portfolio? Both of the aforementioned 
parties are part of the same holding entity. 
 

No. 

6.29 Attachment 2. Minimum Qualifications 
Certification  
With regards to the $20bn AUM criteria, 
can we represent the AUM of our Multi-
Assets Team where portfolio managers are 
based in different locations belonging to 
different legal entities yet manage 
portfolios in a globally-integrated team 
structure? 
 

No. 

6.30 Attachment 1. C, D.  Return Objective and 
Portfolio Volatility 
We understand that these are assessed on 
an ex-post basis. 
Is this calculated using the average 
annualized number over 3 years? Are these 
being reviewed at the end of the 3-year 
period?   
What if these targets are not met in the first 
2 years?  
 

Yes, the return and volatility are 
calculated using the average annualized 
number over 3 years. 
 
Performance will be reviewed annually 
and will be discussed accordingly. 

6.31 Attachment 1. G. Permissible Asset Classes 
Q13  
Are Funds and ETFs allowed? If so, are 
there any limits on the asset allocation? 
What is the maximum percentage of the 
aggregate exposure in Funds and ETFs? 

Refer to previous responses. 



 Questions Answers 

6.32 Attachment 1. G. Permissible Asset Classes 
Q13  
Alternative investment: Apart from those 
listed, i.e. real estate, hedge fund & 
commodity, do long-short funds fall under 
alternatives?  
 

Yes. 

6.33 Attachments 1. H. Restrictions.  
Q17  
For ESG Requirement, does GSIS have a 
company “banned list” that you maintain? 
Would this list be provided to Managers 
regularly? Or is there an ESG provider or 
Index which GSIS would like us to use?  
 

None. 

6.34 Attachment 4. G. Proposed Investment 
Strategy 
Q3  
Is there a limit on the use of Derivatives?  
Leverage: can the account be leveraged 
and if so, to what level? Is leverage allowed 
on a gross or net basis? What percentage 
limit applies to gross and net leverage?  
FX: is FX hedging required and can we use 
FX forwards for hedging and active FX 
positions? Are FX forwards allowed for non-
hedging purpose (i.e. investment view 
implementation)? 
 

Refer to previous responses. 

6.35 Attachment 4. E. Reporting 
Reporting: the RFP mentioned daily 
reporting. What content does GSIS expect 
in the daily reporting, valuation, holding, or 
trades?  
 

Refer to previous responses. 

6.36 III Services to be Provided. 10 
What does Judicial/Quasi-judicial refer to? 

Answer to follow. 



 Questions Answers 

6.37 Bulletin No. 3.7 
Just would like to confirm the “country 
rating” for IG refers to the country where 
the stocks are listed, and not the country 
where the stocks are domiciled or register 
their businesses? 
 

Yes. 

6.38 Attachment 1 Section H.17.3 
“Activities deemed illegal under host 
country laws or regulations” 
Could you please give us an explanation of 
“host country”? Do they mean the country 
where the stocks are listed, or where the 
companies are registered or domiciled? 
 

Host country is the country where the 
stock is listed. 

6.39 Attachment 1 Section H.17.3 
“Activities deemed illegal under 
international conventions and agreements 
or subject to international phase outs or 
bans” 
Could you please provide us with an exact 
list of the conventions and agreements do 
you want we respect? Or could you please 
provide us with the precise list of activities 
that we have to avoid? 
 

Answer to follow. 

6.40 Attachment 1 Section H.17.3 
“Paramilitary materials” 
What is the extent of this criterion? For 
instance, do we have to exclude a car 
manufacturer because it produces military 
vehicles? Or do we have to exclusively 
consider basic equipment? 
 

Answer to follow. 

6.41 Attachment 1 Section H.17.3 
“Nuclear” 
Could you please provide us with a 
threshold in order to exclude companies 
(e.g. utilities) that have nuclear as part of 
their business? 
 

Answer to follow. 

 



The prospective proposers are enjoined to visit the GSIS Website (www.gsis.gov.ph) on a regular 

basis for updates or Supplemental Bulletins. 

 

For guidance and information of all concerned. 

 

 

 

(Sgd) GRACITA GILDA V. BOCANEGRA 
Chairperson 
Investment Bids and Awards Committee 


